
 
 
 

SCRUTINY : GOVERNANCE, 
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS CHANGE AND 

CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

4.00 pm TUESDAY, 23RD MARCH, 2021 
 

REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 

A Pre-Meeting will take place prior to this Meeting and a separate 
invitation will be sent from Scrutiny Support Officers to  

Committee Members only  

 
 

Please note that today’s Meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording may be broadcast on the Authority’s internet 
 

All attendees will be in view of the camera and, by attending you are consenting to 
being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings being used 

as outlined above. 

 

 
This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

3. Welsh Public Library Standards Update   

 To consider the attached report 
 

5 - 32 

4. Recovery, Transformation and Improvement Plan   

 To consider report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

33 - 54 

5. Work Programme 2020-2021   

 To consider the attached report 
 

55 - 68 

6. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions  

 

7. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

8. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



  
COMPOSITION: Councillors:  T Skinner (Chair) 

                     J Amos (Vice-Chair) 
  
 Councillors:   H R Jones, D Sammon, W R Smith, 

L Davies and C T Jones 
 
Co-optees:    J Beard, C Payne and S Fureed 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Welsh National Library Standards Update 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Each year Public Library Services in Wales are required to submit a report to Welsh 

Government regarding the performance against the Welsh Public Library Standards. 
The Welsh Public Library Standards are the measure by which the minister with 
responsibility for Libraries can make a decision about their compliance with the 
statutory Libraries and Museums Act 1964. The responsibility for Library services 
remains with the Local Authority despite Wellbeing Merthyr being the vehicle for 
delivery.   

 
1.2 This report provides the scrutiny committee with the feedback received from Welsh 

Government.  It offers details of Welsh Government’s judgements in relation to the 
core entitlements; quality indicators (with targets); impact measures and quality 
indicators and benchmarks.  

  
1.3 On this occasion – the report was not ratified prior to submission to Welsh 

Government due to the impact of the Corona Virus Pandemic. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The Committee receives the information on feedback received from Welsh 

Government. 
 
2.2 The Committee retrospectively ratifies the report to Welsh Government. 
 
2.3 That the feedback report is accepted and Committee Members have an opportunity 

to review and comment on its content. 
 

Date Written 1st March 2021 

Report Author Jane Sellwood 

Service Area Libraries 

Committee Date 23rd March 2021 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Welsh Public Library Standards are the way in which the Minister with 

responsibility for Library Services is able to measure whether an authority is 
complying with its statutory duty. 
 

3.2 Due to the impact of the Corona Virus Pandemic, this years report was not ratified 
prior to submission. 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 During the previous year of the framework, the Library Service performed well. The 

service was able to maintain performance standards against core entitlements and 
targeted measures measured over the last three years of the framework. 
 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 On receipt of the feedback report from Welsh Government; the findings, and initial 

report are being brought to the Governance, Performance, Change Management 
and Corporate Services scrutiny committee to offer Committee Members the 
opportunity to review the original submission and the Welsh Government response. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 To maintain this performance where appropriate and to work in line with other Library 

authorities to understand the impacts of the pandemic on performance moving 
forward through the year of the pandemic and lockdowns and forward into recovery. 

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Ensure all our policies and practices feed into the delivery of the service to maintain 

performance 
 
 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO NATIONAL WELLBEING GOALS 

8.1 The new framework deals with the national wellbeing goals in the following way: 

A Prosperous Wales 

Development of a skilled and well educated population is a fundamental aspect of public 
libraries activity. Examples of how this is achieved include providing access to a world of 
lifelong learning through relevant book stock and online information, and the provision of 
free IT equipment, broadband and wi-fi, which supports education, small businesses and 
job seeking. Core entitlements 2, 3, 6 and 7, and quality indicators 1, 3, 5, 7, 8, 9,12, 13 
and 15 all monitor aspects of public libraries contribution to this goal. 

A Resilient Wales  

Social and economic resilience is supported by encouraging and promoting individual 
personal development, enabling people and society to adapt to changing circumstances. Page 6



Regular consultation with users ensures that the services themselves are resilient and able 
to adapt to changing needs. Two core entitlements are particularly pertinent here, 3 and 11, 
together with quality indicators 4, 11 and 14. Examples of how this is achieved in practice 
include support for greater community involvement in running library services and book 
stock that encourages a more resilient lifestyle with access to IT so people can self-educate 
about the issues. 
 
A Healthier Wales  
Physical and mental wellbeing is a key offer of public libraries, not only by providing 
information on which to base informed choices for the benefit of health in the future but also 
designated collections and schemes such as Book Prescription Wales titles loaned through 
libraries, which directly benefit individuals with health concerns. Relevant core entitlements 
for this goal are 3 and 4: quality indicators 1, 4 and 6 monitor activity. 
 
A More Equal Wales 
Libraries are welcoming, inclusive and offer pro-active outreach and public engagement 
activities in deprived and socially excluded communities. Support for Government initiatives 
such as Universal JobMatch and Universal Credit enable those without IT skills or facilities 
fulfil their potential. Core entitlements 1, 2, 4, 6 and 7 and quality indicators 3, 4, 11, 13 and 
14, all monitor public libraries contribution to this goal. 
 
A Wales of Cohesive Communities 
Libraries offer a safe neutral place within the community which provides opportunities for 
people to connect with each other. The one-stop shop or hub model being developed in 
many areas further connects local communities with the services they need. Other 
examples of support for community involvement through the process of provision of 
information about the local area. Core entitlements 1, 3 and 5 and quality indicators 1, 6, 13 
and 16 monitor aspects of public libraries contribution to this goal. 
 
A Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language 
With explicit provision in the current framework covering the provision of material in the 
Welsh Language, libraries are well placed to contribute in this area. They promote and 
protect Welsh Culture and language, and encourage participation in the arts and recreation 
through the availability of a good range of stock in Welsh, and a host of cultural events and 
activities. Core entitlements include 2, 3, 6, 8, 9 and 10 and quality indicators 2, 6, 8, 9 and 
10 are particularly relevant here. 
A Globally Responsible Wales 
A commitment to make the most efficient use of resources is embodied in the quality 
indicators. MALD works with the British Standards Institute and International Standards 
Organisation in developing and using quality indicators for Libraries that conform to ISO 
11620. Further the borrowing of books is a great recycling tool, reducing the impact on the 
environment. Libraries in Wales work together in book purchasing consortia, digital e-book 
consortia and the All Wales Library Management system. Core entitlement 12 is directly 
related to global good practice, while quality indicators 14 and 15 are related to the balance 
and efficiency of service provision. 
 
 
JANE SELLWOOD 
Wellbeing Merthyr (Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust) 
 
 
 

Page 7



BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) 

Date 
Document Location 

1. Future Direction 
2. Case Study – Bus 

Pass Renewal 
3. Case Study – Harri 

Webb 
4. MT Library Report 
5. Narrative 19/20 
6. Framework 6 

Reporting 
Template 
 

September 
2020 

 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 

Page 8



Annual Assessment Report 2019/20 1 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Welsh Public Library Standards 2017-2020:  
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust 
 
Annual Assessment Report 2019/20  

This report has been prepared based on information provided in Merthyr Tydfil’s annual 

return, case studies and narrative report submitted to the Culture and Sport Division of the 

Welsh Government.  

1 Executive summary  

Merthyr Tydfil met all of the 12 core entitlements in full. 

Of the 9 quality indicators which have targets, Merthyr Tydfil achieved 8 in full and 1 in 

part.  

Library services in Merthyr Tydfil are delivered by Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust on behalf of 

the Borough Council.  The service has performed well throughout the framework and is 

one of only five services to meet the acquisitions target.  Regular consultation also 

ensures that customer satisfaction levels have remained high throughout the framework as 

Merthyr is able to anticipate the needs of its community and deliver services needed. 

Unlike many other library services in Wales, Merthyr Tydfil has seen an increase in most 

usage figures including adult and children issues and library membership. Staffing levels 

have been maintained at 2017/18 levels, but remain below the median for Wales. Despite 

this, the service notes that it feels it utilises the staffing to the best advantage of 

customers. The service engages with a wide variety of partners to deliver appropriate 

activities for its communities, and the challenge will be to maintain resource levels in order 

to continue to deliver a quality service. 

 Merthyr Tydfil continues to meet all 12 of the Core Entitlements in full. 

 Merthyr Tydfil completed its adult and children’s user surveys in March 2020. There 

are no changes since the last survey (adult and children) was undertaken in March 

2019.  Satisfaction levels remain very high and the service ranks as first or second in 

Wales for most of the indicators. 

 Spending on acquisitions has increased once again in 2019/20, resulting in an 8.5% 

increase since 2017/18. The benefit is seen in increased adult and children book 

issues and membership levels, against the Wales (and UK) trend.  

 Staffing targets (QI 13) remain unmet, with the total number of staff and the total 

number of professional staff below the median level in Wales. 

 The service’s ICT provision is well used with the second highest usage level for its 

computers in Wales.  

2 Performance against the standards  

The standards framework comprises of core entitlements, quality indicators with targets, 

quality indicators with benchmarks and impact measures.  Section 2 summarises 

achievements against these areas.  A narrative assessment of the authority’s performance 

is provided in Section 3.  The assessment has been limited to some degree by the fact that 

local authorities were only asked to comment on any changes to the previous year’s 

return, alongside additional commentary on of partially/not met core entitlements.   

Page 9



Annual Assessment Report 2019/20 2 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

2.1 Core entitlements 

Merthyr Tydfil continues to meet all 12 of the Core Entitlements in full. Merthyr continues to 

consult with users on an annual basis, ensuring projects undertaken are informed by the 

community.  There has been a continued focus on providing a range of new activities, 

events and programmes.  As Merthyr Tydfil is an area of high deprivation, the potential 

positive benefits that the community derive from these sessions are hugely beneficial.  The 

development of staff remains a priority and is evidenced through positive user feedback. 

2.2 Quality indicators with targets 

There are 16 quality indicators (QIs), of which ten have constituent targets. Due to the 

impact of Covid-19, three quality indicators have been removed for the 2019/20 reporting 

year, five, six and fifteen, of which number six has a constituent target. Of the nine 

remaining targets for 2019-20, Merthyr Tydfil achieved 8 in full, and 1 in part. 

Quality Indicator Met?  

QI 3 Support for individual development:  Met in full 

a)     ICT support √  

b)     Information literacy and skills training √  

c)     E-government support √  

d)     Reader development √  

QI  4 (a) Support for health and well-being  Met in full 

i) Book Prescription Wales scheme √  

ii) Better with Books scheme √  

iii) Designated health & well-being collection √  

iv) Information about healthy lifestyles and 
behaviours 

√  

v) Signposting to health & well-being services √  

QI 7 Location of service points √ Met in full 

QI 9 Up-to-date and appropriate reading material  Met in full 

Acquisitions per capita √  

or Materials spend per capita x  

QI 10 Welsh Language Resources  Met in full 

% of material budget spent on Welsh √  

or Spend on Welsh per capita √  

QI 11 Online access:  Met in full 

a) i)     Public access to Internet √  

    ii)     Wi-Fi provision √  

QI 12 Supply of requests  Met in full 

a)     % of requests satisfied within 7 days √  

b)     % of requests satisfied within 15 days √  

QI 13 Staffing levels and qualifications:  Partially Met 

i)     Staff per capita x  

ii)     Qualified staff per capita x  

iii)     Head of service qualification/training √  

QI 16 Opening hours per capita √ Met in full 

 

Page 10



Annual Assessment Report 2019/20 3 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Merthyr Tydfil has maintained its performance in this third year of the sixth framework, with 

no significant change on 2018/19.  Merthyr is one of only four local authorities to achieve 8 

of the QIs in full and 1 in part.  Overall, performance has improved since the first year of 

the reporting framework. 

2.3 Impact measures 

The framework includes three indicators aimed at assessing the impact of library use on 

people’s lives.  These indicators do not have targets, and authorities are only required to 

carry out user surveys for QI 1 once over the three-year period of the framework. 

However, this measure has been affected by Covid-19 and some authority plans to 

undertake a survey in the first quarter of 2020 were cancelled. The summary figures 

(lowest, median and highest) are therefore based on those authorities indicating they 

completed their user survey during framework 6.  Rankings reflect the numbers of 

respondents, where 1 is the highest scoring authority.  

Merthyr Tydfil completed its latest adult and children’s user surveys in March 2020.  

Merthyr Tydfil undertakes user surveys of both adults and children once each year; figures 

are therefore updated annually. 

Performance indicator  Rank Lowest Median Highest 

QI 1 Making a difference      

b) % of young people who think that the library helps 

them learn and find things out:  
96% =3/19 60% 90% 97% 

e) % of adults who think that the library has made a 

difference to their lives: 
94% =4/19 11% 81% 99% 

 

Authorities are also asked to provide up to four case studies describing the impact which 

the library service has had on an individual or on a group of individuals during the year.    

Merthyr Tydfil provided two such case studies: 

 Harri Webb – People’s poet of Wales.  Harri Webb was the librarian in Dowlais library 

in the 1950s/1960s.  A number of activities were organised to celebrate the life of Harri 

Webb, but also to inspire a love of poetry in the young people of the area.  Attendees 

felt that their involvement in the project had improved their understanding of local 

history and improved their confidence in writing.  

 Bus pass renewal – library staff provided support to individuals renewing their bus 

passes.  Without access to PCs in the library and support from library staff in the 

completion of the application for a new bus pass, many individuals would be without a 

bus pass.  Help received from library staff was invaluable to many.  By the 31st 

December 2019, over 6090 individuals had been helped. 

2.4 Quality indicators and benchmarks 

Whilst Covid-19 restrictions remain challenging to all library services in Wales, staff 

resilience, professionalism and care for the community they serve has been outstanding. 

Although digital services have increased, we know from evidence provided that customers 

are missing their library services. They are missing the staff, browsing the shelves, IT 

provision, community spaces and groups such as knit and natter.  The importance of the 

library as a physical place and the impact on the wellbeing of their customers through 

interaction with library staff cannot be underestimated.  

Page 11



Annual Assessment Report 2019/20 4 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

The remaining indicators do not have targets, but allow services to monitor and benchmark 

their performance over time, in comparison with other authorities.  The following table 

summarises Merthyr Tydfil’s position for 2019/20.  Ranks are included out of 22, where 1 

is the highest, and 22 the lowest scoring authority, unless stated otherwise.  Indicators 

where fewer than 22 authorities supplied data are those where relevant data was not 

available to some authorities.  Figures from the second year of the sixth framework or 

relevant previous surveys have also been included for comparison. Indicators ‘per capita’ 

are calculated per 1,000 population unless otherwise noted. 

 

Performance indicator  Rank Lowest Median Highest 2018/19 

QI 1 Making a difference       [Framework 6] 

a) % of adults who think that using the 
library has helped them develop new skills 

94%  1/18 25% 75% 94% 94% 

c) health and well-being 89%  3/19 38% 69% 96% 88% 

d) enjoyable, safe and inclusive 100%  1/19 10% 92% 100% 100% 

QI 2 Customer satisfaction       [Framework 6] 

a) ‘very good’ or ‘good’ choice of books 99%  =1/18 78% 91% 99% 98% 

b) ‘very good’ or ‘good’ customer care 100%  =1/18 88% 97% 100% 100% 

c) ‘very good’ or ‘good’ IT facilities 95%  =2/17 65% 85% 99% 94% 

d) ‘very good’ or ‘good’ overall 99%  =2/18 85% 96% 100% 99% 

e) users aged 16 & under rating out of ten 9.2  =13/19 8.0 9.1 9.5 9.0 

QI 8 Library use1        

a) visits per capita 3,564   15/22 2429 3987 6874 3,820 

b) virtual visits per capita 1,055  9/22 239 909 2131 948 

c) active borrowers per capita 145  11/22 78 145 244 149 

QI 10 Welsh issues per capita2 406  17/22 19 140 541 417 

QI 11 Online access        

b) Computers per 10,000 10  7/22 4 9 14 10 

c) % of available time used by the public 62%  2/22 14% 30% 64% 63% 

QI 14 Operational expenditure        

a) total expenditure per capita £7,798  21/22 £7,260 £12,448 £23,333 £8,820 

b) % on staff, 54%  17/22 48% 61% 76% 52% 

% on information resources 21%  2/22 5% 13% 22% 20% 

% on equipment and buildings 10%  5/22 0% 8% 28% 3% 

% on other operational costs 15%  13/22 1% 18% 35% 25% 

c) capital expenditure per capita £0.00  =22/22 £0 £1,567 £13,027 £0 

QI 16 Opening hours3        

(iii) a) % hours unplanned closure of static 
service points 

0.00% =1/22  0.00% 0.23% 3.96% 0.00% 

b) % mobile stops / home deliveries 
missed 

0.00% =1/22  0.00% 1.07% 5.41% 0.00% 

1 figures for co-located services are marked with an asterisk; performances for these services are likely to reflect higher footfall, and 

will not therefore be directly comparable with stand-alone library provision   2per 1,000 Welsh speaking resident population 
3Rankings here have been reversed, so that 1 is the lowest scoring (best performing) authority 

Page 12



Annual Assessment Report 2019/20 5 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

3 Analysis of performance 

The core entitlements and quality indicators can be divided into four key areas.  This 

section of the report outlines performance under these areas, and compares this 

performance with the first and second year of the sixth framework (2017/18 and 2018/19). 

3.1 Meeting customer needs (QI 1-5)i 

Merthyr Tydfil completed its adult and children’s user surveys in March 2020. There have 

been no changes since the last survey (adult and children) was undertaken in March 2019.  

Satisfaction levels remain high, with Merthyr recording the highest levels of satisfaction 

levels in Wales with regard to the percentage of adults who feel that the library is a safe 

and inclusive place and the number of adults who feel that the library has helped them to 

develop new skills. High levels of customer satisfaction continue to be recorded. All static 

libraries continue to provide a full range of support for individual development, and good 

support for health and well-being, with Merthyr Tydfil now one of only four authorities 

providing the full range of identified services and activities across all its service points 

(core and additional). 

3.2 Access and use (QI 6-8)ii 

Merthyr Tydfil continues to meet the target for easy access to service points, with no 

change since 2017/18.  Visitor levels have decreased since 2018/19, and remain below 

the median level in Wales.  Many libraries were affected by Covid-19 and the decline in 

visits in February/March 2020. There has been an increase in the numbers of adult book 

issues, and performance in this area is above the median level per capita in Wales. 

Children’s loans have increased by 60% since 2017/18, although comparatively 

performance here is in the bottom quartile in Wales. As with the majority of authorities 

across Wales, Merthyr has seen an increase in the number of electronic downloads.  This 

has increased by 35% since 2017/18. 

3.3 Facilities and services (QI 9-12)iii 

Spending on acquisitions has increased once again in 2019/20, resulting in an 8.5% 

increase since 2017/18. As a result Merthyr is now one of only five authorities meeting the 

requirements for QI 9, and is going against current trends by seeing an increase in both 

adult and children’s book issues.  Expenditure on Welsh language materials, alongside 

Welsh issues has decreased since 2018/19.  The targets for QI 10 (Welsh) continue to be 

met but Welsh issues remain below median levels in Wales, which may reflect the area 

served.  PC provision has been maintained throughout the framework and usage here has 

also been maintained with services recording the second highest usage levels in Wales. 

This is also against the Welsh trend of declining use.  Performance in relation to supply of 

requests has also remained the same as 2018/19 levels and targets continue to be 

achieved. 

3.4 Expertise and capacity (QI 13-16)iv 

Staffing levels have been maintained at 2017/18 levels. As reported in 2018/19, the 

service is still carrying a vacancy for a qualified librarian.  As such, the professional staffing 

level has not changed.  Staffing targets (QI 13) remain unmet, with the total number of 

Page 13



Annual Assessment Report 2019/20 6 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

staff and the total number of professional staff below the median level in Wales. The 

service notes that there is no likelihood of increases in staff numbers, nor plans to reduce 

the staffing. However, the service feels it achieves the best from the current position. 

Qualified leadership remains in place.  

Total revenue expenditure has decreased by a minimal amount since 2018/19.  Total 

revenue expenditure per capita is in the bottom quartile in Wales. Aggregate annual 

opening hours have been maintained throughout the framework and are above the 

medium per capita in Wales. There were no reported unstaffed opening hours, unplanned 

service closures, or missed home deliveries. 

4 Strategic context  

As part of the return authorities are asked to report on how the library service is 

contributing to wider Welsh Government priorities and strategic goals.  The strategic vision 

of the Trust is: ‘Libraries will inspire the people of Merthyr Tydfil to enjoy reading, enhance 

their knowledge and skills, to enrich their quality of life and empower them to realise their 

full potential’.  This vision relates directly to the Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust vision 

statement.  The role of the library service to the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act is 

also noted; in particular, the impact of the library service on health and well-being, the 

promotion of digital inclusion and the development of cultural priorities relating to the 

Welsh language.  

5 Future direction 

Reporting on the authority’s future direction and plans for the library service over the 

following year, it is noted that the short term priority for Merthyr library service will be to 

focus on recovery following Covid-19, in line with all library services in Wales. The wider 

vision for the service is articulated in the Merthyr Tydfil Strategy document (2019-21). In 

the immediate future, there will be a continued focus on the development of digital 

activities in collaboration with colleagues in the Museum service. The service notes that 

there remains a great deal of uncertainty regarding the service that libraries will need to 

provide in the near future and there will be a need to re-engage users and re-evaluate 

services offered prior to the pandemic. The challenges of low levels of staffing and budget 

constraints remain and future plans will be inhibited by these factors.  

6 Conclusion 

Library services in Merthyr Tydfil are delivered by Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust on behalf of 

the Borough Council. The service has performed well throughout the framework and is one 

of only five services to meet the acquisitions target.  Regular consultation also ensures  

that customer satisfaction levels have remained high throughout the framework as 

Merthyr is able to anticipate the needs of its community and deliver services needed. 

Unlike many other library services in Wales, Merthyr Tydfil has seen an increase in most 

usage figures including adult and children issues and library membership. 

Staffing levels have been maintained at 2017/18 levels, but remain below the median in 

Wales.  Despite this, the service notes that it feels it utilises the staffing to the best 

advantage of customers.  The service engages with a wide variety of partners to deliver 

appropriate activities for its communities, and the challenge will be to maintain resources 

levels in order to continue to deliver a quality service. 

 

Page 14



Annual Assessment Report 2019/20 7 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

 

 

i Due to Covid-19, local authorities were only asked to report any change in provision since the last reporting year for QI 3&4. 
ii Due to Covid-19, QI 5&6 were removed for the 2019/20 reporting year.   
iii E-resources purchased through centrally-funded subscriptions have been included in the acquisitions figures for QI 9 in 2019/20.  

Each authority has added 201 to their total acquisitions from centrally funded subscriptions. CIPFA Statistics Returns continue to 
include figures for centrally-procured resources. 
iv Due to Covid-19, QI 15 was removed for the 2019/20 reporting year, alongside training and volunteer hours.   

                                                           

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Case Study 1 – Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries                  
 

Summary 

Harri Webb (1920 – 1994) was a poet, Welsh nationalist, journalist and librarian. 

From 1954 to 1964, he was the librarian at Dowlais Public Library. Harri Webb is 

remembered as the People’s Poet of Wales. To commemorate his time at Dowlais 

Library, a plaque has been placed in the foyer of the library by the local community. 

 

Project Aims 

 To raise awareness of Harri Webb’s presence in Dowlais and Merthyr Tydfil, 

and recognise his contribution to the area.  

 To inspire young people to be creative, and help them develop their 

communication skills, both written and oral, so that they have better learning 

skills and become more confident individuals. 

 To encourage a sense of community, increasing people’s feeling of safety and 

involvement in their local community, and promoting their social wellbeing. 

 

The Project 

Unveiling of the Harri Webb Plaque 

The project began with the unveiling of a plaque to commemorate Harri Webb’s 
tenure as Librarian at Dowlais Library. The plaque had been made by the local 
community. 
 
 

 

 

Page 17



Case Study 1 – Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries                  
 

Quote from a participant 

 

It was an honour to be part of the ceremony at which the plaque to the memory of 
Harri Webb was unveiled by the Mayor in Dowlais Library.... and a particular 
pleasure to read aloud Harri's poem 'Local Boy Makes Good', one of Tony's favourite 
poems. 
 

Childrens Poetry Workshops 

 

With funding from the Trecatti Trust, three poetry workshops were then lead by Mike 

Jenkins with classes from each of Dowlais Primary School, St Illtyds R C Primary 

School, and Pantyscallog Primary School. During the sessions the children used 

Harri Webb’s poetry as a way of exploring their own environments, and the people 

around them. The poetry workshops ran throughout December 2019. 

 

 

 

 
The poems were then entered in a competition run by Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries 
Service. 

 

The poetry workshops included looking at Harri’s work and learning information 

about his life. The children loved hearing stories of Harri’s time at Dowlais Library 

and the character that he was: 

Page 18



Case Study 1 – Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries                  
 

Quotes from school participants: 

‘I think he would have been a scary librarian, not like the ladies here now. They are 

really nice but Harri would have scared you a lot I think’. 

‘I like his poems because he really loved Wales and the ones we have read all tell a 

story about it.’  

‘I liked writing my own poem and Mr Jenkins was really good when he was telling us 

about Mr Webb. I don’t think Mr Webb would have liked us being so noisy in the 

Library today!’ 

‘I thought writing poems would be really hard, but is not and its quite fun really’ 

‘I didn’t know there were so many famous people who lived in Merthyr. Lots of them 

were really clever like Harri Webb’ 

 

Adult Poetry Workshops and Open Mic 

 

Mike Jenkins in collaboration with local artist Gustavius 

Payne, organised an Open Mic Night at the Stables in 

Dowlais as part of the overall project, to bring together 

those who had an interest in poetry to recite and to 

listen. 

 
An adult poetry workshop was also held at Dowlais 
Library in February 2019. 
 

Many of the participants stated that the involvement in 

the project had improved their understanding of local 

history and of the characters of the famous people who 

made Merthyr their home. 

Others believed their understanding of poetry in its many forms had improved and 

they felt more confident in writing themselves after attending the workshop. 

 

Page 19



Case Study 1 – Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries                  
  

Project Results 

 

As the project went on, various parts of the project were filmed by a community film 

maker – Steve Jones. Participants came from a variety of backgorunds and had 

taken part in different aspects of the project. The film provided a complete overview 

of the project and of Harri Webb himself.   

‘Inspired by Harri Webb’ was premiered at the Cardiff International Film Festival in 

October 2019. 

‘Inspired by Harri Webb’  had its’ Merthyr Tydfil Premiere on the 19th December, 

2019 at the Red House.  

 

 

Page 20



Case Study 2 – Bus Pass Renewal                                
 

 

Summary 

This is more of a response to a problem for the local community, than a project, but, 

demonstrates how important Libraries can be to a local community. 

Transport for Wales exists to drive forward the Welsh Government’s vision of a high 

quality, safe, integrated, affordable and accessible transport network that the people 

of Wales are proud of. As part of this, Transport for Wales is working with all Welsh 

local councils and Welsh Government to roll out new-style Concessionary Travel 

Cards by the end of December 2019. These cards will replace the current green 'bus 

passes' across Wales. The old-style cards will not be recognised by electronic 

readers on buses after 31 December 2019. 
 

The website that the public could use to renew their bus pass went live in 

September. The website recommended contacting your local library for help to 

renew your bus pass, as public libraries provide free access to the internet. There 

was a lack of communication between those in local government and the Library 

service, although Libraries in other areas had been subject to better communication. 

 

The Project 

The Library Manager at Merthyr Central Library contacted MTCBC, who confirmed 

this was happening, and agreed to send over paper copies of forms for the public. 

Page 21



Help sessions were quickly arranged for library staff to help support people renewing 

their bus passes at all libraries. 

 

At the beginning of September the web site went ‘live’ and promptly crashed, 

because of the number of people trying to access it. Eventually the website went 

‘live’ again on the afternoon of 23rd September, 2019. The Help Sessions were 

rescheduled. However, because of the overwhelming number of people who flooded 

into libraries desperate for help, the sessions were largely abandoned, and staff 

helped people who enquired as needed. Because of the large numbers, a queueing 

system was introduced at Merthyr Central Library, with library users given a 

numbered slip of paper. They were then assisted in numerical order. At Aberfan, 

Dowlais, Rhydycar, and, Treharris Libraries, bus pass renewal enquirers were 

helped as soon as they asked. 

 

Project Results 

By the end of the first week, 1018 individuals had visited Merthyr Tydfil’s 

libraries to try to renew their bus passes. Library staff were magnificent in their 

endeavour to help. Many of those trying to renew their bus passes had come without 

the required information – one member of staff helped a 93 year old man by phoning 

his pub landlady to get his post code and phone number! Thankfully the gentleman 

had his National Insurance number. In Merthyr Central Library, several ladies were 

so overcome with relief when their bus passes were renewed that they became quite 

giddy, and nearly fainted. This illustrates how important the bus passes are to those 

who rely on them for transport. 

By the 31st December, 2019 – 6090 individuals had been helped.  

This equates to roughly to 507 hours of staff time (assuming an average of 5 

mins to complete each application for the new concessionary travel pass.) 

Page 22



About a quarter of those trying to renew their bus passes experienced problems on 

the website. Problems arose because 

1. The individual had moved and not reported a change of address 

2. The individual had lost their original bus pass, and received a new bus pass, 

but, were still trying to use the re-found original bus pass. 

3. Incorrect data entry – the transposition of digits and numerals, e.g. Using a 

capital O instead of a zero. 

4. The website had crashed. 

Many organisations and neighbouring library services had taken the stance to hand 

out forms rather than provide the face to face support that Merthyr Tydfil did.  

The public were full of praise for the help they received: 

“Excellent. Means a lot to be able to come here to get my bus pass renewed quickly”            

Evelyn  

“I was worried that I wouldn’t be able to renew my bus pass and change the address. 

Staff have been very helpful and got it all sorted quickly.”  Elizabeth  

“ I struggled to complete the renewal at home as the database did not recognise my 

information. I came to the library and had my photo taken, and applied for a new 

card quickly and easily. Very helpful staff have saved me lots of stress.” Jean  

“Thank you for helping people who are uable to use the computers themselves to 

renew their bus pass.” Pat  

“Very good to have details sorted out in such a pleasant place, that I haven’t visited 

in years!” Robert  

“I tried several times to complete a new bus pass online, without success. 

Thankfully, Library staff have helped out.” Linda  

“Marvellous!” Vincent  

“I think the Library is a big help.” Mona   

 The majority of those trying to renew their bus passes, had no access to the internet 

at home. Without the support of staff and the public access pcs in the libraries, they 

would not have been able to renew their bus passes. It is also interesting to note, 

that some of the enquirers did have access to the internet at home, but, had 

experienced problems whist trying to renew their bus pass and looked for support 

and advice at their local library. Many have expressed how stressed and anxious 

they have been, which in some cases had badly affected their well-being. 

Although four week basic computing courses are offered at Merthyr Library, most 

bus pass renewers have commented that they have managed without computers up 

until now, and are not interested in learning at their advanced age, when told about 

the course. 

Page 23



The delay in some people receiving their bus pass after renewal has caused a few of 

those affected to visit the library and ask where their bus pass is. For them, the 

Library has become part of the organisation issuing the bus pass. However, library 

staff have explained and given out the Transport for Wales contact number, and the 

problem has been resolved. 

                                                                                 

Next Steps 
 

For many, the library is now recognised as a place where they can get help and 

support in accessing and using the internet. Enquiries have already been made 

about renewing Driving Licences at 70 etc.. Volunteer led help sessions are being 

planned at libraries to direct enquirers to. 

 

Page 24



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Narrative 2019-20 

[Type text] 
 

Libraries have a massive part to play in the Wellbeing agenda across Wales and to this end, Merthyr 

Tydfil Public Libraries support the 7 wellbeing objectives through a range of services. The 7 

objectives highlighted in the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (Wales) as listed are: 

A prosperous Wales 

A resilient Wales 

A healthier Wales 

A more equal Wales 

A Wales of cohesive communities 

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language 

A globally responsible Wales 

In light of this the local authority has developed its own focus on four key objectives: 

Best Start to Life (BS) 

Children get the best start to life 

Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to be successful  learners and 

confident individuals 

Working Life (WL) 

Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future 

Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish 

Environmental Wellbeing (EW) 

Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside 

Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets 

Living Well (LW) 

Developing safer communities 

People have good physical and mental health 

Page 25



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Narrative 2019-20 

[Type text] 
 

People live independently 

The authority has further developed its visual representation of how this fits with the wellbeing plan: 

 

All priority outcomes link through to the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act and so by 

concentrating on those which are specific to Merthyr Tydfil’s Local Wellbeing plan we are also 

contributing to the wider agenda in Wales. The contribution of Library services in its generic form to 

each of the wellbeing goals has been clearly documented through the document ‘Connected and 

Ambitious Libraries’ and how the framework further supports this. Each of the local objectives within 

Merthyr Tydfil is able to be clearly supported by activity and contributions from Library services. The 

list is certainly not exhaustive and each aspect fits more than one of the key priority outcomes on a 

local level, so have been grouped together to avoid duplication: 

 We have maintained and expanded our online free reference facilities for all members. As 

far as possible we make them available for home use 24/7, so that they are there whenever 

the user might wish to use them.  

 We maintain free computer facilities in our buildings, open and available whenever the 

libraries are.  

Page 26



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Narrative 2019-20 

[Type text] 
 

 We have subscriptions to ebook, emagazine and eAudio service which is free for all our 

members. Whilst the majority of items included are recreational fiction or non-fiction, it also 

includes a selection of study aids and self -elp stock, which are free to access and use. 

 We continue to develop our links with organisations and community groups using the 

facilities in all borough libraries.  

 We provide outreach sets of quick reads, graded readers and other materials for adult 

learners at all levels.   

 We hold large collections of Welsh learners’ materials, and work to provide as much stock in 

Welsh as we can, and to promote its use to those in the area. 

 We continue to promote recreational personal reading as well as reading linked to study, as 

is evidenced in our significant investment of staff and time in the annual summer reading 

scheme for children.  

 We actively promote digital inclusion across all libraries through a variety of classes, 

activities and events. These are run through a variety of volunteer and staff sessions. All are 

involved in learning themselves and encouraging learning for life in others.  

 We work closely with Voluntary Action Merthyr Tydfil (VAMT) to find, teach and develop the 

use  of volunteers in many areas of the library service, so that we benefit from their 

experiences and knowledge, and they benefit from working with us and developing their 

skills.  

 We have hosted a variety of classes for adults, ranging from computing, Crochet and 

Knitting, Stop Smoking, Mindfulness, ESOL and many others. The occasional events have 

included poetry afternoons, writing workshops and local history walk and talk days.  

 We are a key player in the promotion and delivery of the Bookstart scheme locally, and use 

our contacts to encourage family learning amongst the recipients of the packs.  

 We have good relationships with many local schools and teachers and have developed these 

relationships further through reading groups in schools, young librarian training days, writing 

and reading activities and many other events and activities. 

 We make sure that the recognised sets of Books on Prescription and Reading Well titles are 

not only easily available for all buildings when a prescription is presented, but also that the 

most commonly used titles are also available on open shelves for anyone to access and 

borrow, even without a prescription.  

Page 27



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Narrative 2019-20 

[Type text] 
 

 We have specific staff task groups who do outreach work promoting literacy within the 

community, working with schools and other groups. 

 We have special stock collections to support work on the various possible ‘life issues’ such as 

eating disorders, bullying, addictions.  

 We are continuing our work with the national GP exercise referral scheme co-ordinators. 

 Staff have undertaken training to deliver physical literacy sessions. In addition staff have 

undertaken Health Walk training and are using this to develop a set of sessions based 

around local history, with the title ‘From Talking Books to Walking Books’ and based on the 

local history stock items. 

 We now loan packs for parents and children based on physical literacy and reading to get 

active at home, which include games and play ideas. 

 We promote and train users to access sites such as ‘Add to Your Life’ to help empower 

people to make the right choices towards healthier lifestyles.  

 We work hard to ensure that no-one is excluded from being able to use our services. We 

have the transitional lending scheme so that even children whose parents are unwilling to 

complete a membership form may still borrow from us.  

 We work with many groups such as Drink Wise Age Well, Stop Smoking and MIND to deliver 

sessions in libraries 

 We are Dementia Friendly throughout the Library with 100% of the staff having undertaken 

the Dementia Friends training 

 We have a specific home delivery service to anyone who cannot otherwise gain access to 

library stock.  

 We provide stock in Polish specifically to cater for the many migrant workers in the area, as 

well as a number of dual language books for children.  

 We also have Portuguese stock for adults and children. 

 We provide, where required and available, dual language Bookstart books in Bookstart 

packs. 

 The Library Service manages the main local studies collection for the local area and has 

significant underlying involvement with tourism.  

Page 28



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Narrative 2019-20 

[Type text] 
 

 We operate a bookshop that sells any in-print publications on Merthyr Tydfil alongside our 

own publications. 

 Internet services are widely used by migrant workers and students. 

 We play a key role in the development of events and celebrations of cultural diversity in 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough, particularly annual events such as Holocaust Memorial Day 

run by the Library service.  

 We support job seekers and claimants through targeted classes and drop in sessions and 

signpost users to agencies and organisations that can further help them 

Library services in Merthyr Tydfil are supporting the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (Wales) 

and corporate priority outcomes across the authority, with 88% of households able to access a 

building with full services. The value of what we do is generally recognised corporately and support 

for services has grown over many years. However, the service is currently challenged to keep levels 

where there are with reducing budgets especially in staffing. The service is committed to providing a 

quality customer experience and will continue to do this to the best of its ability. 

Much of the work carried out in the last year and moving forward into the next will naturally feed 

into each of the goals but will continue to have more focus on the following key areas as we develop 

our work with children and young people and community engagement: 

 Best start to life 

 Living Well 

There is a general feeling however in the area that the focus on these wellbeing objectives has been 

a good thing for Libraries and has raised the profile internally around the contributions made 

through the services provided. 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries – Future Direction           

 

For much of the start of the year, like organisations and individuals across Britain, the lockdown 

restrictions came into force for Merthyr Tydfil. 

At the time of lockdown, it was hard to imagine the extended period that it would entail. During the early 

days of lockdown, there was a period of ‘downtime’ while everyone waited for things to get back to 

‘normal’. As time moved on and it became more obvious that there would be an extended period of 

lockdown, staff mobilised and began to develop online content. However, the understanding we have of 

the demographic which we serve gave us a lot of food for thought around the difficulties being presented 

to families and individuals who were struggling without physical access to services, and the ability to access 

online content without the help of the library service. 

With the restrictions in place however, there was little choice. Staff (who had not been furloughed) created 

a range of videos aimed at families and children and created more content for social media as well. 

Working across the organisation and incorporating and developing content alongside colleagues in the 

Museum service and creating a Youtube channel and new social media accounts. 

As the year has progressed, we have very much steered away from some of the language being used, 

around opportunities. We must never forget that the COVID-19 pandemic is a tragedy, however, it has 

happened and we are still in the midst of it. Staff are currently still partly furloughed, this does limit the 

creative thinking that will be incredibly important in the reimagining that will be required around public 

library services. 

Currently the service is taking stock of where we were at the end of the year last year, and are now looking 

towards trying to reimagine what will be a quality service moving forward. We are currently working on 

plans to develop further online content, but operating in the area that we do where there are high levels of 

functional illiteracy as well as issues around information literacy this is a difficult ask. 

We have little information at the moment around the confidence that consumers will have in services like 

Libraries, as although we have always been those trusted, safe spaces, COVID-19 adds a completely new 

dimension to what the public will want from their Libraries of the future. We will use the remaining part of 

this year to re-engage our users and help them to develop a confidence in our measures in relation to 

infection control, in addition to trying to assess the undoubted changing patterns of behaviour we are 

likely to see. 

The world is a different place now and the plans and developments that were in place around children and 

young people and skills building, although still very relevant, now have to be fully re-examined and 

developed in line with the ‘new normal’. 

This, coupled with uncertainty around future funding and the impact on public spending that will likely 

come as a result of COVID-19, gives a degree of uncertainty that will need working through before any firm 

direction can be set. 

 

 Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Recovery, Transformation and Improvement (RTI) Plan 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Following setting a balanced budget for 2019/20, the Council asked Welsh 

Government for support to face the challenges ahead.  The Minister for Housing and 
Local Government appointed an external Improvement and Assurance Board.  This 
Board carried out a rapid assessment exercise outlining areas of focus.  With support 
provided by Welsh Government, the Council responded by developing a Recovery, 
Transformation and Improvement (RTI) Plan, meeting the timescale set by the 
Minister.  During the development of the RTI Plan, the Council, and its support, 
identified 3 priorities areas.  These are: Improving Standards in Education; 
Increasing Resilience in Social Care; and Economic Recovery following the 
coronavirus pandemic.   

 
1.2 The first version of the RTI Plan was shared with Senior Officers of the Council in 

August 2020 and at the first opportunity with Elected Members in September 2020.  
Both these groups agreed with the priority areas, key underpinning principles and 
areas to support the change.  These are: Environmental Well-being; Digital 
Transformation; Commercial Opportunities; Healthy Organisation; and Governance 
Improvement.   

 
1.3 Key programmes of work have been, or are being, developed to deliver the RTI Plan 

and, in doing so, address the findings of the rapid assessment exercise.  The RTI 
Plan supports and enables the efficient and effective delivery of the Council’s 
corporate plan and well-being objectives.  Through delivering the plan, outcomes for 
the residents of Merthyr Tydfil are likely to improve.   

 
1.4 Workshops have been set up for Elected Members, Scrutiny Members and Officers 

to work together to refine the RTI Plan.  The RTI Plan is being built into forward plans 
and a focus on performance is increasing.  Quarterly business reviews and a 

Date Written 12th March 2021 

Report Author Ellis Cooper / Andrew Mogford 

Service Area Council wide 

Committee Date 23rd March 2021 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4



corporate dashboard are being designed to better monitor and challenge our 
performance and drive improved outcomes. 

   
1.5 The Council has greatly benefited from, and appreciates, the support provided by 

Welsh Government.  This support has allowed focus to be placed on key areas for 
improvement and provides additional challenge and assurance as part of monthly 
Board meetings.  The Council will continue to develop, refine and deliver the RTI 
Plan to improve outcomes.  If successful in delivering the RTI Plan, the Council will 
no longer require support from the Board.   

   
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The content of this report be noted and debated. 
 

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 After setting a balanced budget for 2019/20, and considering future financial 

challenges, the Council took a proactive step and asked Welsh Government (WG) 
for support.  The Minister for Housing and Local Government appointed an external 
Improvement and Assurance Board (IAB).  The IAB is led by 4 external advisors; 3 
former senior Local Government Officers and chaired by a former senior member of 
the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA).  Board meetings are held 
monthly and are attended by our regulators and a representative from the WLGA.  
From Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, attendees include; Cabinet Members, 
the Leader of the Opposition and Deputy Leader of the Opposition along with Senior 
Members of staff, as the agenda requires.   

 
3.2 The 4 advisors carried out a rapid assessment exercise, outlining 12 key findings 

that the Council needed to address.  These are:  management and organisational 
structure (to consider work spans of roles and staffing structures); the staffing 
capacity; support to develop a transformation / improvement plan; increase 
partnership working; Member development; Scrutiny development; Corporate 
finance; Corporate procurement; Transformation/Change; Education; Social Care; 
Leisure Trust.   

 
 
3.3 Why do we need a Recovery, Transformation and Improvement Plan? 
 

To address these outcomes, we began to develop a ‘Transformation and 
Improvement Plan’ in early 2020/21, with external support provided by WG.  As this 
started, the Country entered lockdown following the onset of the coronavirus 
pandemic.  As such we worked with the same support to consider high level recovery 
as part of the plan.   
 

 
 
 
 
 Page 34



This plan considers 3 essential elements, namely:  
 
 

our recovery from the coronavirus pandemic (including how we can learn 
from our experiences to shape our way forward);  

 
our transformation (the things we need to change to increase sustainability 
and improve);  

 
all leading to our improvement (addressing the key performance issues to 
improve outcomes for our residents).   

 
This forms the first version of our ‘Recovery, Transformation and Improvement Plan’ 
(RTI Plan) and helps us addresses our immediate risks identified in the rapid 
assessment exercise but also the longer-term.  The RTI Plan was requested by the 
Minister for Housing and Local Government, through the IAB, in the summer of 2020.  
Appendix 1 shows the summary RTI Plan.   

 
 
3.4 What is the Recovery, Transformation and Improvement Plan? 

 
When working with the support provided to the Council through WG, it was clear our 
performance was not as we would expect in some areas but spread across the 
Council.  As well as our performance data, we considered corporate risk, our 
financial position, our resources (including staffing capacity) and regulator reports.   

 
The key emerging themes were to improve our education standards and to consider 
performance and continuous improvement more generally, addressing our lack of 
capacity and resilience (in doing so addressing findings from regulator reports and 
the rapid assessment exercise) and how we will support the economy to recover 
from the pandemic.  The last point is also a preventative measure to try to reduce the 
impact of the pandemic on our residents.  For example, if we can limit unemployment 
though supporting businesses, we can also reduce demand on our benefits system.   

 
To address these points, we need to recover from the pandemic and transform the 
ways we work.  This means we need learn from how we have worked through the 
pandemic and take forward aspects of working practices that have benefited us and 
in doing so apply the 5 ways of working (see Appendix 2) from the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  The main examples here are: making sure 
we are continuing our journey to reduce our carbon footprint and reach our recycling 
targets (Environmental Well-being); considering any commercial opportunities; 
making sure our digital offer meets the needs of our services now and in the future; 
having the right workforce with the right skills (Healthy Organisation); making sure 
the way we work is effective and efficient with the right structures in place 
(Governance Improvement).   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



This forms our Recovery, Transformation and Improvement Plan. 
 
We have 3 priority areas: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Key areas supporting the plan: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

Supporting the change will allow us to work with the priority areas of the RTI Plan 
(and wider corporate plan) to enable us to recover, transform and improve.  The 
detail of these work programmes will be driven by our priority outcomes.  This is 
explained in more detail in sections 5 and 6 below. 

  
 
3.5 How does the Recovery, Transformation and Improvement Plan fit in with 

other plans and strategies? 
 
A key focus of the RTI Plan is to ensure that we can economically, efficiently and 
effectively deliver our strategies, well-being objectives, corporate plan and priorities 
to provide better outcomes for the residents of Merthyr Tydfil.   
 
To illustrate this, we have focused on how the 3 RTI Plan priorities fit with our well-
being objectives and priority outcomes (from our corporate plan).  In other words, if 
we deliver the RTI Plan, there is a greater likelihood that our outcomes will improve.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Digital 

Transformation 

Healthy 

Organisation 

Commercial 

Programme 

Governance 

Improvement 

Page 36



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Although not an improvement priority in the RTI Plan, by including the key elements 
of our Environmental Well-being objective, we will also address longer-term 
ambitions and sustainability.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
The RTI Plan is underpinned by 4 council-wide programmes.  These help 
us consider our digital opportunities, become more commercially aware, 
have the right resources (a Healthy Organisation) and good governance 
(the way we work). 
 
Through delivering the plan, we will not only improve outcomes in our 

corporate plan but also improve how we contribute to the 7 national well-being goals 
(Appendix 3).   
 

Priority Outcome 
Improve the educational 
outcomes for all children 

and young people 

Well-being Objective 
Children and young people get the best 
start to life and are equipped with the 

skills they need to be successful learners 
and confident individuals 

Priority Outcome 
Ensure people are able to 

live independently and 
safely within their 

communities 

Well-being Objective 
People are empowered to live 

independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and 
enjoy good physical and mental health 

Priority Outcome 
Developing the 

environment and 
infrastructure for 

businesses to flourish 

Well-being Objective 
People feel supported to develop the 
skills required to meet the needs of 
businesses, with a developing; safe 

infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil an attractive destination 

Priority Outcome 
Maximise efficient use of 

materials and resources by 
means of the waste 

hierarchy 

Priority Outcome 
Communities protect, enhance and 

promote our environment and 
countryside 

Page 37



4.0 WHERE WE WERE 
 

4.1 Following the rapid assessment exercise, WG allocated support for the Council to 
develop the RTI Plan and 2 main areas of concern (Education Standards and 
Resilience in Social Care).  This support, and challenge from the IAB, resulted in this 
first (also the current) version of the RTI Plan.  This was drafted in August 2020 to 
meet with the timeline set by the Minister for Housing and Local Government.  This 
was approved by the IAB with the understanding it is a live document and needs to 
meet the needs of our transformation journey.   

 
4.2 When developing the RTI Plan we considered performance data from previous years 

and Public Accountability Measures (PAMs) comparator data allowing us to measure 
how our performance related to other Councils.   

 
4.3 Education data in our Annual Performance Report (APR) for 

2018/19 showed school attendance had fallen (primary schools 
pupils down from 94.3% in 2017/18 to 93.9% in 2018/19; 
secondary schools pupils down from 93.0% in 2017/18 to 
91.8% in 2018/19) and the comparative data regarding 
outcomes at key stage 4 needed addressing, with Merthyr 
Tydfil being the lowest in Wales.  There were other areas from across the Council 
where performance had decreased, but when cross referenced against our corporate 
risks (where the school attainment risk is scored as 25), education standards caused 
higher concerns.   

 
4.4 When conducting the capacity exercise (an exercise carried out 

in 2019/20 assessing the operational staffing capacity risk) 
again key areas of the Council needed to be strengthened 
(these areas have been reported to Council for growth as part of 
the budget setting process).  One area of concern regarding 
resilience was Social Care.  Although not a major performance 
concern, the resilience of the service was.   
 

4.5 Even though significant improvement was being felt in 
developing the economy, 2018/19 data showed negative trends 
in the number of business births and deaths (when compared to 
the previous year).  The ‘Centre for Towns’ produced a report in 
April 2020 called ‘The effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on our 
towns and cities’.  This report considers the whole of the UK.  In 
this report, towns with high reliance on retail and pubs and restaurants and ex-
industrial towns were highlighted as likely to experience high negative impacts 
following the coronavirus pandemic.  This and the work already being done regarding 
the economic growth strategy outlined increased risk around the economic position 
post pandemic.  As such it was clear we needed to focus on the economic recovery 
of the County Borough.   

 
4.6 This provided the rationale for the 3 priority areas on the RTI Plan.  If these are not 

addressed appropriately, it is likely that the Council would not be able to fully deliver 
the corporate plan.   

 
 
 

Page 38



 
4.7 It became clear very quickly that to deliver the RTI Plan 

priorities and improve, we would also need to recover and 
transform.  As well as our environmental well-being, we have 
outlined 4 areas to support the RTI Plan.  These are: Digital 
Transformation; Healthy Organisation; Commercial 
Opportunities; Governance Improvement (explained in 
Section 5 below).   

 
4.8 A basic mission statement for the RTI Plan was constructed using feedback from 

Committees and Officer/Elected Member workshops that took place over the last few 
years regarding budget setting.  These are: Engaging with all our stakeholders; 
Tackling issues through addressing root causes; and Adopting new ways of working 
that lead to better outcomes.   

 
4.9 Following approval of this first version of the RTI Plan by the IAB and submitting the 

RTI Plan to the Minister for Housing and Local Government within the required 
timeframe, virtual workshops were held as soon as possible with Senior Officers 
(August 2020) and Elected Members (September 2020).  The 3 priority areas and 
supporting themes were agreed at these workshops.  Timescales and Covid 
restrictions did not allow for the development of the RTI Plan to be developed in the 
conventional way of meetings or workshops at the Civic Centre.   

 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 
 
5.1 We have developed key programmes under each of the 3 priority areas to ensure we 

address the issues outlined above.  However, there is scope to further refine and 
shape these going forward.  Our key strategies, such as the Raising Aspirations 
Raising Standards (RARS) strategy for example, form a significant focus of the RTI 
Plan.   

 
5.2 We have worked with partners to develop our RARS strategy to 

improve our education standards.  Council approved the RARS 
Strategy on the 25th November 2020.  In responding to the 
pandemic and supporting future recovery, we have helped over 
500 learners who were previously digitally excluded by providing 
Chromebooks and devices to support internet connection.   

 

5.3 In responding to the pandemic, Social Services have used digital 
technology to continue to provide key services to our residents.  
We have seen better partnership working and collaboration in 
responding to the pandemic.  We have also developed and 
approved key pieces of work in delivering the RTI Plan.   

5.4 In September 2020, Council approved the reconfiguration of Peripatetic Social 
Workers Posts to Peripatetic Support Workers in Children’s Services and Cabinet 
approval was gained for Foster Care Incentives in February 2021.  Both will increase 
our resilience in Children Social Services. 

 

Page 39



5.5 In February 2021, Council approved the ‘Preparation for Adulthood - Transition 
Policy’ and the ‘Adult Services Advocacy Strategy 2020-2023’.  This means 2 key 
aspects of the plan can be delivered in Adult Social Services.   

 
5.6 We are working with partners to develop an Economic Recovery 

Plan.  Our Economic Growth Strategy and Economic Recovery 
Board enables us to work together to support the economic 
recovery of Merthyr Tydfil.  We are developing a 15-year 
economic vision for Merthyr Tydfil.   

 
5.7 Our teams have worked together to administer £22,449,264 (as at the 23rd February 

2021) of Welsh Government grants to support businesses.   
 
5.8 We are developing and growing connections between the business sector and 

Merthyr Tydfil’s education providers.  A Business, Education and Training 
Partnership has been set up to develop and grow connections between the business 
sector and education providers in Merthyr Tydfil. 

 
5.9 We have also developed key pieces of work supporting our Environmental Well-

being section of the RTI Plan.  We have developed areas of work to support the RTI 
Plan.  These were arrived at based on the need to deliver the priority sections in an 
efficient and effective way.   

 
5.10 We will continue to engage with residents regarding recycling 

through our Keeping up with the Joneses programme.  We are 
working to reduce our carbon footprint by making our buildings 
more energy efficient as part of our Decarbonisation programme.  
We are using our resources and continuing to engage with our 
residents to ensure frontline continuity.   

 
 
5.11 Digital Transformation – We are: supporting our learners as 

outlined above; using technology in how we work (e.g. MS 
Teams, soft-phones so that our staff can use their desk phone 
through their laptops); developing our infrastructure so we can 
continue to work during the pandemic (making sure our network 
is fit for purpose); developing how we better analyse and present 
our data so that we can improve how we monitor performance 
and plan ahead (this is part of a regional project that is in the development stage).   

 
5.12 Healthy Organisation – Improving the way we are recruiting and monitoring staff 

performance by improving our digital offer; We have invested in our staffing resource 
through our capacity exercise. 

 
5.13 Commercial Opportunities – We are refocusing our plans; Council approved a 

Commercial Manager post as part of the budget setting process (identified as part of 
the capacity exercise). 

 

Page 40



5.14 Governance Improvement – Digital technology is being used to continue to involve 
our Elected Members; our Scrutiny self-evaluation is being analysed following 
feedback from our Elected Members and Staff; we are working with the Welsh Local 
Government Association (WLGA) to develop e-learning modules. 

 
5.15 We are using existing governance structures to deliver and monitor the RTI Plan.  

These have been updated to be fit for purpose.  Our officer meetings allow us to 
deliver the plan.  We hold a weekly meeting with our Corporate Management Team 
to monitor delivery.  A programme dashboard allows us monitor progress.  This 
feeds into the monthly IAB meetings.   

 
5.16 To involve our Elected Members and Scrutiny Members we have set up a process 

where we hold monthly workshops.  The first of these workshops was held on the 
23rd of February 2021.  The purpose was to recap the September workshop, 
including providing an update on progress, but also to gather the views of Elected 
Members and Scrutiny Members.  Key questions such as, ‘Do you feel this RTI Plan 
is taking the Council in the right direction?’ and ‘What are your views on how we can 
engage with you on refining the RTI Plan?’ were discussed.  Feedback was very 
positive and need for continued workshops supported.  It was felt that the RTI Plan is 
taking the Council forward in the right direction and we can use the workshops to 
work together to refine and review the plan.  It was also agreed to build the RTI Plan 
into scrutiny forward plans, with this already being done in some cases.  The RTI 
Plan will also be included in the Cabinet Forward Plan.   

 
5.17 We have invested £705,000 as a result of the first phase of the capacity exercise to 

bolster our staffing, including adding resilience to Social Care, addressing changes in 
Education (e.g. Additional Learning Needs (ALN)) and other areas where we 
identified risk.  This investment also addresses issues or recommendations from 
regulators (e.g. Environmental Health). 

 
 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 
 
6.1 Ultimately, we want to deliver the RTI Plan to provide better outcomes for the 

residents of Merthyr Tydfil.  This means we will have improved on our performance 
and in turn will mean we will better contribute to the 7 national well-being goals.   

 
6.2 In achieving this and delivering our RTI Plan, it will mean that we will no longer 

require the support of the IAB provided by WG.  The Council appreciates this support 
that has allowed us to arrive at this point and providing focus for us to transform and 
improve.   

 
6.3 To be in this position we will not only need to improve but also ensure we are 

sustainably doing so.  This means longer term financial planning and continuing the 
learning from changes during the pandemic.  Utilising external funding and our 
partnership working is going to be key to this. 

 

Page 41



6.4 It also means that we will see improved education standards and an increase in our 
resilience in Social Care.  We will be in the best position to recover in terms of the 
services we deliver and the wider economy.  This will be supported by good 
governance, scrutiny and a focus on performance.     

  
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 
 
7.1 It is important that we continue to drive forward our recovery, transformation and 

improvement agenda.  We want to use our workshops to further refine the RTI Plan.  
This is likely to be an iterative process as we continue to review how the plan is 
helping us improve outcomes for our residents.   

 
7.2 The RTI Plan will be built into our corporate plan (Focus on the Future – Well-being 

in our Community).  The priorities and principles in the RTI Plan will help us better 
deliver the corporate plan, again improving outcomes.  This will help us answer the 
question of ‘so what?’, in terms of how our plans are helping us improve.   

 
7.3 We will continue to engage with Elected Members and Scrutiny Members as we 

work together to take this Council forward.  As mentioned above, the RTI Plan (along 
with the corporate plan) will be built into Scrutiny and Cabinet forward plans.  This 
monitoring and challenge will form a key part of our governance.  It will also help us 
to communicate the plan and provide regular updates.  Alongside this, internal 
programme teams have been, or are being, set up (e.g. the Economic Recovery 
Board and the Business, Education and Training Partnership), allowing us to deliver 
the RTI Plan.   

 
7.4 Improve how we monitor our performance.  We are planning to introduce Quarterly 

Business Reviews (QBRs) and a corporate dashboard containing key data such as 
performance, finance, risk, compliments and complaints and progress in delivering 
the RTI Plan.  This is currently in the design stage and will form part of discussions in 
workshops going forward.  The purpose of QBRs is to gain a better understanding of 
our performance and outcomes so that we can increase our focus for improvement.  
It should be noted that comparative data will not be available for 2020/21 due to the 
coronavirus pandemic. 

 
7.5 We will need to consider how we fill any skill and/or capacity gaps.  As we change 

the way we work and improve, we may need to have different skill sets or change our 
capacity.  It can be viewed as the next logical step following the capacity exercise 
undertaken last year.  Alongside this we will need to make sure that we can finance 
the plan.  We will consider how we can use external funding to help us achieve this.  
We have already committed financial support to the RTI Plan through the budget 
setting process and existing budgets (e.g. improving our digital offer in response to 
the coronavirus pandemic). 

 
7.6 We will continue to strengthen our governance, including our scrutiny.  We will use 

the outcomes from the scrutiny self-evaluation exercise to help us do this.  A 
feedback workshop with Scrutiny Members is planned for late March.   

 
7.7 We want to use lessons learnt throughout the coronavirus pandemic to develop our 

services.  For example, we want to build on our partnership working internally and 
with other organisations.  We will use these approaches in how we recover from the 

Page 42



coronavirus pandemic; something that we will be working on over the upcoming 
months. 

 
 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELL-BEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 In section 3.8 above, we explained how the priority areas and other key elements of 

the RTI Plan improve the delivery of our well-being objectives, corporate plan and 
ultimately our priority outcomes.  Appendix 3 outlines how the RTI Plan helps us 
contribute to the 7 national well-being goals.   

 
8.2 By improving our education standards, we will provide better 

opportunities for all learners.  This makes clear links to the Best 
Start to Life objective, especially equipping our children and young 
people with the skills they need.   

 
8.3 Through increasing our resilience in Social Care, we will be better 

able to deliver our Living Well objective.  The increased resilience 
will enable us to deliver our preventative agenda and empower 
people to live independently.  As part of our recovery we will focus 
on how to address well-being to enable people to enjoy good 
physical and mental health.   
 

8.4 Our economic recovery will directly help us deliver the Working 
Life objective.  By strengthening the economy, mitigating 
unemployment and integrating plans with the Best Start objective, 
we will support people to develop skills and provide opportunities 
for employment.  Continuing to work together, we will be better 
placed to support businesses. 
 

8.5 Environmental well-being considers 2 main aspects as part of the 
RTI Plan.  These are Recycling (including Reuse) and 
Decarbonisation.  Both these elements will help us protect, 
enhance and promote our environment and countryside. 
 

8.6 Supporting the change will allow our 3 priorities and 
environmental well-being to be delivered in the most effective and 
efficient ways possible.  The areas of digital transformation, 
commercial opportunities, a healthy organisation and good 
governance will mean we can change as required to provide 
better outcomes for our residents.  This underpins how we can 
deliver our well-being objectives.  As the RTI Plan develops, these areas will be able 
to support the requirements.   

 

 
ELLIS COOPER 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
COUNCIL LEADER  

 
 

Page 43



Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Summary RTI Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 44



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 45



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 46



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 47



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 48



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 49



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 50



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 51



Appendix 2 – 5 Ways of Working 

 

Long term 
The importance of balancing short-term needs with the need to safeguard the ability 
to also meet long-term needs. 

 

Prevention 
How acting to prevent problems occurring or getting worse may help public bodies 
meet their objectives. 

 

Integration 
Considering how the public body’s well-being objectives may impact upon each of the 
well-being goals, on their other objectives, or on the objectives of other public bodies. 

 

Collaboration 
Acting in collaboration with any other person (or different parts of the body itself) that 
could help the body to meet its well-being objectives. 

 

Involvement 
The importance of involving people with an interest in achieving the well-being goals 
and ensuring that those people reflect the diversity of the area which the body serves. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



Appendix 3 – How the RTI Plan contributes to the 7 national goals 

 National Goals 
Parts of the RTI Plan that improve how 
we contribute to the National Goals 

 
 

Efficient use of resources, skilled, educated 
people, generates wealth, provides jobs 

Improving our Education Standards 
Economic Recovery 
Environmental Well-being 
Healthy Organisation 
Commercial Programme 

 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 

ecosystems that support resilience and can 
adapt to change (e.g. climate change) 

Environmental Well-being 
Digital Transformation 

 
People’s physical and mental well-being is 

maximised and health impacts are 
understood 

Improving our Education Standards 
Increasing our resilience in Social Care 
Healthy Organisation 

 
People can fulfil their potential no matter 
what their background or circumstances 

Economic Recovery 
Healthy Organisation 
Digital Transformation 

 
Communities are attractive, viable, safe and 

well connected 
Economic Recovery 
Environmental Well-being 

 
The Welsh language and culture are an 
integral part of our communities, and 

contribute to the rich heritage of the country 

Economic Recovery 
Governance Improvement 

 

Taking account of impact on global well-
being when considering local social, 

economic, environmental and cultural well-
being 

Improving our Education Standards 
Increasing our resilience in Social Care 
Economic Recovery 
Environmental Well-being 

 

 

 

 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Forward Work Programme 2020/21  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached Forward Work Programme and approves, 
revises or amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.7 in 
planning for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached Forward Work Programme identifies the topics and issues under 
consideration by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional 
subjects to be identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 10th March 2021 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 23rd March 2021 

Page 55

Agenda Item 5



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 56



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives? 

b. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s corporate 
priorities/ objectives? 

c. Is this item/ topic relating to service performance concerns? 
d. Is this item/ topic of significant public interest? 
e. Does the item/ topic have any budgetary implications? 
f. Is this an item/ topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
g. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
 

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department; 

 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 
 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue; 
d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation/ review; 
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 
 

 

Page 57



Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy/ strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives/ other plan/ other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role/ achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas/ 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate/ Cabinet 
Member/ External Partner etc. prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending to ensure that they have the information/ 
answer ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format/ venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Due to the outbreak of the Covid-19 global pandemic, all scrutiny committees 
are to be held via Microsoft Teams at least for the time-being. This decision 
has been taken to ensure the safety of our members, officers and all others in 
attendance. Currently, there is no clear indication of when hybrid meetings will 
be appropriate; and this will be reviewed in line with any updates and advice 
from U.K. and Welsh Government. 

 
Even under normal circumstances, meetings do not have to be held in a 
formal committee room environment. You may wish to hold occasional 
meetings in community location settings e.g. community centres, sports 
facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some people find the formal setting 
intimidating. Site visits for example may be more appropriate to see first-hand 
what the committee is investigating/ obtaining information on e.g. waste sites, 
regeneration projects etc. 
 
 

Page 58



Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/ carers and/ or the general public (public 
calls for evidence) 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 
 
 
 

  

APPENDIX I 

Page 60



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Date / 
Timing 

Overarching Item Cabinet Member & 
Officer(s)  

Scrutiny Focus  Cross-Cutting Strategies 
and Plans 

22nd 
September 

2020 

Coronavirus Update – 

Response and Transition 

to Recovery 

 Cabinet Member – 
Governance; 
Performance; Business 
Change & Corporate 
Services 

 Head of Protection & 
Safety Services 

 

Scrutiny & Challenge:   Local councils have faced 

unprecedented events during 2020 as a result of the 

pandemic and, more specifically, the impact of the 

prolonged period of lockdown.  
 

The Committee seeks a report that will enable them to 

review how the Council has responded to these 

circumstances; and how it has worked differently to 

manage/mitigate identified risks.  The report should 

acknowledge what the Council did well, what 

opportunities were identified and seized and what lessons 

have been learned; showing how these will be used to 

take the next required steps in the short and long-term. 

Recovery, Transformation 

and Improvement Plan 

Draft Committee Work 

Programme 2018/19 

 

Committee Chair & 

Committee Members 

The Committee to discuss the draft Work Programme and 

to officially agree and sign off the Work Programme for 

2020-2021 

 

Recovery, Transformation 

and Improvement Plan 

(Governance) 

13th October 
2020 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan: Environmental 
Wellbeing theme 

 Cabinet Member – 
Neighbourhood Services, 
Planning & Countryside 

 Chief Officer – 
Neighbourhood Services, 
Planning & Countryside 

 

Item deferred from 2019/2020 Work Programme (as a 
result of the pandemic) 
At the scrutiny meeting held on April 2019, Committee 
Members requested the Environmental Wellbeing theme 
within the Corporate Plan be presented at Governance 
Scrutiny, with a specific focus on the following elements: 
 

“It has been over 12 months since new measures were 
introduced.  Members want to explore: 

 whether there has been any increase of incidents of 
fly-tipping.  

 whether costs have increased?   

 does policy require change? (e.g. black bin charge; 
waste transfer note charge etc.)”. 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 
 
Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
 
Wales Towards Zero Waste 

P
age 61



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

  

The Committee will, through questioning; seek to 
understand the impact of the pandemic on services 
officers deliver.  Members aim to identify how lessons 
learned will help inform and shape services going forward 
to ensure identified needs can continue to be met in safe 
and responsive ways. 
 

Committee Work 

Programme 2020/21 

 

Committee Chair & 
Committee Members 

To review the items due to be presented at the next 
Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the 
Committee’s expectations are available to report authors 
who will be drafting the report. 

Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Governance) 

24th 
November 

2020 

Corporate Wellbeing 

Plan:  Living Well Theme 

 Cabinet Member – Social 
Services 

 Chief Officer – Social 
Services 

Scrutiny & Challenge: The Committee seeks a report 
outlining progress made against the Living Well theme 
within the Corporate Plan.  The report will outline 
progress made against the objective set down under this 
theme; and will identify challenges faced and 
opportunities identified and actioned. 
 

Additionally; the Committee seeks to understand the 
impact of the pandemic on officers delivering both 
Children’s and Adult social services and of the services 
users seeking support.  Members also seek to identify how 
lessons learned will help inform and shape services going 
forward to ensure identified needs can continue to be 
met in safe and responsive ways. 
 

Focus on the Future – 
wellbeing in our community 
 
Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
 
Social Services and 
Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 
 
Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 
 
ACRF Report 2019-2020 

Committee Work 

Programme 2020/21 

 

Committee Chair & 
Committee Members 

To review the items due to be presented at the next 
Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the 
Committee’s expectations are available to report authors 
who will be drafting the report. 
 

Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Governance) 

P
age 62



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

12th January 
2021 

Corporate Wellbeing 

Plan:  Working Life 

Theme 

 Cabinet Member – 
Community 
Regeneration & Public 
Protection 

 Chief Officer – 
Community 
Regeneration; Public 
Protection & Housing 

 Head of Housing & 
Community 
Regeneration 

 Head of Protection & 
Safety Services 

Scrutiny & Challenge: The Committee seeks a report 
outlining progress made against the Working theme 
within the Corporate Plan.  The report will outline 
progress made against the objective set down under this 
theme; and will identify challenges faced and 
opportunities identified and actioned. 
 

Additionally; the Committee seeks to understand the 
impact of the pandemic on a wide range of services: 
Housing and Homelessness; Economic Development & 
Business Support; Protection & Safety Services; Sports 
Development/ Heritage & Culture services so Members 
can clearly identify how lessons learned will inform and 
shape activities going forward.  The Committee also seeks 
to understand how the impact of lockdown and 
subsequent lessons learned will support wider economic 
recovery across the County Borough. 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 
 
Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Governance) 
 
Economic Growth Strategy 

Committee Work 

Programme 2020/21 

 

Committee Chair & 
Committee Members 

To review the items due to be presented at the next 
Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the 
Committee’s expectations are available to report authors 
who will be drafting the report. 
 

Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Governance) 

9th February 
2021 

Corporate Wellbeing 

Plan:  Best Start Theme 

 Cabinet Member – 
Education 

 Chief Officer – Education 

Scrutiny & Challenge: The Committee seeks a report 
outlining progress made against the Best Start theme 
within the Corporate Plan.  The report will outline 
progress made against the objectives set down under this 
theme; and will identify challenges faced and 
opportunities identified and actioned. 
 

Additionally; the Committee seeks to understand the 
impact of the pandemic on officers delivering Education; 
early years and childcare; youth and adult education 
services.  Members seek to identify how lessons learned 
will help inform and shape services going forward to 
ensure identified needs can continue to be met in safe 
and responsive ways. 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 
 
Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
 
Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 
 
 

P
age 63



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 

Committee Work 

Programme 2020/21 

Committee Chair & 
Committee Members 

To review the items due to be presented at the next 
Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the 
Committee’s expectations are available to report authors 
who will be drafting the report. 

Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Governance) 

23rd March 
2021 

Recovery, 

Transformation and 

Improvement Plan  

 Cabinet Member – 
Governance, Performance, 
Business Change & 
Corporate Services 

 Chief Executive Officer 

 Deputy Chief Executive/ 
Chief Officer – Community 
Regeneration 

 Chief Officer - Learning 

 Chief Officer – 
Neighbourhood Services 

 Chief Officer – Social 
Services 

 Chief Finance Officer 

 Head of Corporate Services 

Scrutiny & Challenge:  Members have requested a report 
be brought before the Committee that offers an overview 
of the developing Recovery, Transformation and 
Improvement Plan.  The report should enable Committee 
Members gain a snapshot on the preparation of the Plan; 
clearly outlining the governance arrangements which 
support its’ delivery.   
The report should provide an overview of how the priority 
actions laid down in this Plan link in with other key plans 
and strategies to which the Council must respond, 
providing assurance of the effectiveness of the 
governance arrangements; and enable Members to 
explore opportunities for review and streamlining where 
appropriate to support efficient delivery. 

Focus on the Future – 
wellbeing in our community 
 
Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
 
 

Welsh Public Library 

Standards Update 

 Jane Sellwood – Merthyr 
Tydfil Leisure Trust 

Feedback and Evaluation:   Each year Public Library 
Services in Wales are required to submit a report to Welsh 
Government regarding the performance against the 
Welsh Public Library Standards. The Welsh Public Library 
Standards are the measure by which the minister with 
responsibility for Libraries can make a decision about their 
compliance with the statutory Libraries and Museums Act 
1964. The responsibility for Library services remains with 
the Local Authority despite Wellbeing Merthyr being the 
vehicle for delivery.  

 
This report provides the scrutiny committee with the 
feedback received from Welsh Government. It offers 
details of Welsh Government’s judgements in relation to 
the core entitlements; quality indicators (with targets); 
impact measures and quality indicators and benchmarks.  

Focus on the Future 
 
 

P
age 64



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Committee Work 

Programme 2020/21 

 Committee Chair & 
Committee Members 

To review the items due to be presented at the next 
Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the 
Committee’s expectations are available to report authors 
who will be drafting the report. 

Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Governance) 

4th May 2021 

Report on Service 

Charges in relation to 

waste bins 

 Cabinet Member – 
Neighbourhood Services 

 Chief Officer – 
Neighbourhood Services, 
Planning & Countryside 

Scrutiny & Challenge:  Members have requested the 
report on black bin charges that is being presented in 
Neighbourhood Services on 12th April 2021 be presented 
at Governance Scrutiny Committee 4th May 2021. 

Focus on the Future – 
wellbeing in our community 
 

Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Governance) 
 

Wales Towards Zero Waste 
Strategy 

Additional topics for consideration 

Topic Cabinet Member & 
Officer(s) 

Description Scheduled 

Local Authority 
Support to the Third 
Sector Services 

 Chair of 
Governance 
Scrutiny Committee 

 Chief Officer – 
Community 
Regeneration;  

 Head of Housing & 
Economic 
Development 

 EU & External 
Funding Manager 

This item was originally received as a result of a WAO report. Subsequent to the item 
being discussed at the scrutiny meeting an email was sent to the Chief Executive and 
the Cabinet Portfolio Member. As a result of scrutiny’s involvement a report was 
submitted to the Governance Services Scrutiny Committee meeting on 13th February.  

 

P
age 65



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

  

Human Resources  Cabinet Member – 
Governance, 
Performance, 
Business Change & 
Corporate Services 

 Head of Human 
Resources 

  

Following updates received during 2019/2020; Committee Members request officers 
return to the Committee to offer further updates on the current status with particular 
reference being made to the following areas: 

 The capability process; 

 A breakdown of where SPODs; 

 An update on work-based stress and the Council’s response to this; 

 A breakdown of the current situation in relation to agency workers 
 

Additionally, the Committee is aware the Human Resources Team has undertaken 
significant work to support the change of working practice for officers across the 
Council to work remotely/agilely. 

 

Agile Working Policy  Chief Executive 

 Head of HR 

 Organisational 
Development 
Manager 

Committee Members have requested a short report be brought before them relating to 
the Agile Working policy that was approved at the Full Council meeting on 7th October 
2020. 

 

P
age 66

http://mtcbcelecreg.merthyr.gov.uk:9070/documents/s51086/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0


Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 
 

The impact of 
Council Tax Debt 
Collection Process 
& Universal Credit 
on Tackling Poverty  

 To be confirmed Scrutiny & Challenge: Following a visit to Citizens Advice Bureau; a recommendation 
was made by the Committee Chair to further explore this topic.  A CAB representative 
will be invited to attend to give a report on the impact of the processes and outline 
some of the issues people face within communities across the County Borough. 
 
Additionally; the Committee wants to understand the impact of the pandemic on CAB 
services. Members seek to identify how lessons learned will help inform and shape 
services going forward to ensure identified needs can continue to be met in safe and 
responsive ways. 

 

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Welsh Public Library Standards Update
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5

	4 Recovery, Transformation and Improvement Plan
	5 Work Programme 2020-2021
	Appendix 1


